#### Genetic Basis of Preterm Birth

#### Mirjana Nesin

Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Boston Medical Center, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Epidemiologic information indicating genetic predisposition to PTB
  - 3.1. Personal and family history
  - 3.2. Racial and ethnic differences
- 4. Single nucleotide polymorphisms implicated in predisposition to PTB
  - 4.1. Polymorphism of innate immunity genes
    - 4.1.1. Toll-like receptors
    - 4.1.2. Inflammatory Cytokines
    - 4.1.3. Anti-inflammatory cytokines
  - 4.2. Matrix metalloproteinases
  - *4.3. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)*
  - 4.4. beta<sub>2</sub>-adrenergic receptor polymorphism
  - 4.5.Polymorphism of thrombolytic markers
  - 4.6. Genes involved in xenobiotic metabolism
  - 4.7. Uterine distension and PTB
- 5. Interactions between genetics and environment
- 6. Future directions: Genomics and proteomics
- 7. References

#### 1. ABSTRACT

Epidemiologic data show that women who deliver prematurely often have a personal and/or family history of preterm birth (PTB) and that racial and ethnic differences influence the incidence of PTB. This may indicate genetic predisposition to PTB. However, since races and ethnic groups tend to share environmental factors (exposure to toxins, living conditions, diet, smoking), epidemiologic data may just confirm environmental influences on PTB. Alternatively, PTB may represent a consequence of gene-environment interactions. Infection and inflammation correlate with increased risk for preterm premature rupture of amniotic membranes (PPROM) and PTB. Immunomodulatory molecules and their receptors regulate these processes and many of them are products of polymorphic genes. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of a gene may lead to a differential expression of its product. So far, SNPs for several genes have been implicated in PTB. If it is confirmed that polymorphism(s) in particular gene(s) correlates with PTB, it may become possible to develop targeted diagnostic and therapeutic approaches tailored towards unique genetic characteristics of a mother/fetus pair.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Despite progress in many aspects of obstetrical management the rates of PTB have been stable, or are even increasing. For example, in the US the rate of PTB was 12.1% in 2002: a 29% increase over the previous two decades (1,2). Premature birth accounts for 5-10% of annual births in developed countries and up to 25% in developing countries (3). The major reasons for this disparity are social-economic disadvantages in developing countries (maternal stress, malnutrition and heavy physical work) (4) complicated by infections (HIV (5), malaria, (6)). In developed countries, major causes of preterm birth are maternal medical indications (hypertension and preeclampsia, contribute to up to 25% of PTB) (7), intrauterine growth restriction (8), multiple pregnancies (9) and some of the same socio-economic and behavioral factors present in developing countries (smoking, inadequate prenatal care)

Studies of epidemiology and pathophysiology of PTB suggested four major pathways that may lead to it (11):

- 1) Premature activation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA). Fetus may initiate her/his own birth as a consequence of premature activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in a "hostile" intrauterine environment. "Stressed" fetus may produce cortisol and stimulate placental prostaglandins, oxytocin, corticotropin-releasing hormone leading to PTB. Maternal stress may cause activation of her HPA, oxytocin release and regular uterine contractions (12).
- 2) Inflammation and Infection. Maternal genitourinary infections may stimulate cells of fetal innate immunity leading to disbalance between inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines and their receptors. experimental animals, PTB is initiated by pro-inflammatory cytokines: IL-1beta, which stimulates prostaglandin production leading to uterine contractions, while another pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF-alpha acts on cervical smooth muscles leading to ripening of the cervix and rupture of membranes (13). Intraamniotic infections causing elevation of prostaglandins (14), or deficiency in chorio-decidual enzyme that metabolizes prostaglandin E (15-hydroxyprostaglanin dehydrogenase) may lead to interrupted uterine quiescence as a consequence of stimulation of uterine muscle by prostaglandins (15). Inflammatory cytokines produced during infection may activate expression of matrix metalloproteinases leading to extracellular matrix degradation, premature rupture of amniotic membranes and cervical changes (16). Infection, inflammation and collagen degradation have been identified risk factors for PPROM (17).
- 3) Decidual hemorrhage. In placental abruption decidual hemorrhage and uterotonic activity of fibirin may stimulate uterine contractions (18)
- 4) Uterine overdistention. Epidemiologic data indicate that multiple pregnancies and pregnancies complicated by polyhydramnios result in earlier deliveries (9).

Activation of multiple pathways may result in PTB and some of these events may be genetically predetermined (19). Genetic factors that may play a role in PTB are explored in this review.

# 3. EPIDEMIOLOGIC INFORMATION IMPLICATING GENETIC PREDISPOSITION TO PMB

## 3.1. Personal and family history

Personal obstetrical history shows the highest degree of correlation with PTB: women who previously delivered a premature, or small for gestational age (SGA) infant may experience preterm birth or have a growth-restricted fetus again, often at a similar gestational age (20). A daughter, or a sister, of women who delivered prematurely is at increased risk of delivering a premature infant. However, this predisposition does not apply to men who were born preterm (21). The specific risk varies and is increased if a previous infant was born before 32 weeks gestation, or a previous pregnancy was recent. In addition,

women whose previous infant was SGA have an increased risk of stillbirth, particularly if the previous infant was premature (22). Treloar *et al.*(23) investigated genetic predisposition to PTB, using 905 parous twin pairs (579 monozygotic and 326 dizygotic) in Australia. They showed an additive effect of genetic influences and individual environmental effects. Heritability was 17% for preterm delivery in first pregnancy, and 27% for preterm delivery in any pregnancy.

#### 3.2. Racial and ethnic differences

It is important to identify risk factors correlated to PTB in each ethnic and racial population. For example, Swedish women have a much lower incidence of PTB than elsewhere in Europe, likely because they have a lower incidence of genitourinary infections (14). microorganisms were detected in the amniotic fluid in 25% of women with PROM and in 16% of those progressed to PTB. Thus, infection-related PTB is not less frequent in northern Europe than elsewhere (14). In upper middle class Chinese population in Taiwan the main risk factors for PTB were more than two prior abortions, previous PTB, multiple gestations, and current obstetric conditions (fetal anomaly, abruption, placenta previa) (24). In contrast, large social disparities were noted in spontaneous preterm birth rates in transitional Russia: premature infants tend to be born to less educated women living in poverty (25).

In North Carolina the overall relative risk of preterm birth among African American women compared with Caucasian women was 2.6 (95% confidence interval (CI) 2.1-3.1). With adjustment for age, gravidity, marital status, education, and county of residence, the estimated relative risk for African American women compared with Caucasian women was 2.1 (95% CI 1.1-4.1) for medically indicated preterm delivery, 1.6 (95% CI 1.1-2.3) for preterm birth as a result of preterm labor, and 1.9 (95% CI 1.2-3.1) for preterm premature rupture of membranes (26). In a population-based birth certificate study, Zhang and Savitz (27) also showed that, when controlling for other factors, African-American women had 3.5 times the risk of Caucasian women of PTB and 3.3 times the risk of PPROM. However, higher incidence of prematurity does not correlate with an increase in mortality of African-American infants born prematurely, indicating that there may be accelerated maturation among African-American fetuses and neonates (3).

Studies with adequate sample size need to be performed to determine the extent to which gene polymorphisms contribute to the racial heterogeneity in PTB.

# 4. SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISM IMPLICATED IN PTB

Multiple genes in myometrium (28) and fetal membranes (29) are gestationally regulated and upregulated during premature labor or infection. Changes in the expression of these genes may account for individual differences in the risk for preterm birth (11). A mechanism for the proposed genetic differences may be related to the

single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of some of these genes.

Each individual carries two same (homozygous) or two different (heterozygous) genetic variants of each gene on his/her chromosomes. These variant are described as alleles. The difference between two alleles may be in one nucleotide: thus, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). SNPs may lead to differential expression of their products. For example, changes in a promotor region of a gene may provide differential binding of transcription factors, or lead to a preferential, or less frequent use of alternative promoters. Differences in the coding regions of the gene may alter its function, or stability as a protein/enzyme, or lead to post-translational modification. SNPs in the non-coding region of a gene may alter its splicing, post-transcriptional processing or transcript stability. *In vitro* and some *in vivo* studies provided experimental correlation between a particular allele and the expression of its gene product. These results were used as a basis for epidemiological correlations of prevalence of particular SNPs in a population and in different conditions and diseases.

Identification of genes and their polymorphisms predisposing to PTB would constitute a major breakthrough in its diagnosis and therapy (30). Such discoveries would enable individualized and potentially more successful approach to treatment of preterm labor.

the following paragraphs epidemiological studies are described. They examined SNPs of different genes and correlated prevalence of particular alleles in a population with the prevalence of PTB. In most studies, cells from buccal mucosa from mothers and their infants were examined for the presence of particular SNPs using oligonucleotides to generate specific PCR fragments. This non-invasive technique allowed for accumulation of substantial body of information. Since it is difficult to determine the timing and a compartment to measure the concentration of the gene products, most studies did not attempt to correlate SNPs with the gene expression. Thus, the primary endpoint in most of the studies was the difference in the incidence of PTB. Since PTB is a multifactorial process, it is not surprising that the data available so far is nonconclusive and several "negative" results and multiple contradictory findings have been reported (Table 1). The other weakness of many studies is the number of subjects. Although investigators enrolled 100 or more subjects in most studies, the number of participants may not be sufficient for studies in population genetics, especially when studied population is not homogenous and prevalence differs among races or ethnicities. It is also clear that more than one gene product may be involved, or that environmental factors may modulate gene expression.

## 4.1. Polymorphism of genes involved in innate immunity

Microorganisms causing vaginal or intraamniotic infection interact with Toll-like receptors (TLRs). This interaction triggers production of one or more cytokines/chemokines and anti-microbial peptides leading

to PTB or/and PPROM (14). Although infections are important triggering factors, an altered inflammatory cascade predetermined by polymorphisms in the genes of innate immune system, may influence progression to labor and impact frequency of PTB. Polymorphisms of innate immune system genes were examined in several studies comparing the prevalence of particular SNPs among preterm and term infants and their mothers (Table. 1).

### 4.1.1. Toll-like receptors (TLRs)

In women with Gram-negative genitourinary infections a bacterial cell wall component, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), initiates tissue responses leading to PPROM. LPS is recognized by two components of innate immunity: CARD15 and TLR4 genes. Mutation 2936insC in CARD15 and a polymorphism in TLR4 896 AinsG impair responses to LPS. Since African American women have a higher incidence of PPROM, Macones at al (17) investigated mutations in CARD15 and polymorphism in TLR4 among African American women and compared them to Caucasians. They found no difference in the frequencies of mutation 2936insC in CARD15 and a polymorphism in TLR4 896 AinsG between mothers or their fetuses. However, the CARD15 mutation was only detected in controls and not in PPROM cases.

In a Finnish population, the frequencies of TLR4 299Gly allele (Asp/Gly or Gly/Gly) were found to be higher in premature singleton infants than among term singleton infants (p = 0.024, p = 0.028, respectively) or in premature multiples (p = 0.036, p = 0.044, respectively) (31).

German Genetic Factors in Neonatology Study Group compared a large cohort of preterm (n=909) and term (n=491) infants and their mothers (n=747). They looked for frequencies of polymorphisms of the promotor region of TLR4-896G. Homozygosity or heterozygosity for TLR4-896G was not significantly different: 11.6 % preterm versus 10.5% term infants; and 8.1 versus 11.5% in their mothers (32).

Hartel *et al* (32) and Nguyen *et al* (33) investigated differences between TLR2 and other receptors involved in innate immunity (mannose binding protein, heat shock protein) and found no significant differences between term and preterm infants and their mothers.

#### 4.1.2. Inflammatory cytokines

Intrauterine infection induces production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines that trigger preterm contractions, cervical ripening and rupture of membranes. Both maternal and fetal tissues seem to play a role in these processes. Although colonization and infection may lead to chorioamnionitis, fetal inflammatory syndrome and preterm birth, not all colonized women progress to deliver prematurely. In addition, clinical trials designed to prevent/abolish preterm birth using antibiotics showed mixed results (34). An alternative hypothesis suggests that common genetic variation in inflammatory cytokines genes may contribute to risk for PTB.

 $Allele + 3953\ T\ in\ exon\ 5\ of\ IL\text{-1beta}\ results\ in$  an increased production of IL-1beta. While African-

**Table 1.** SNPs of some of the genes correlated with PTB

Gene	SNP region/allele or amino acid change	Expected Effect/in vitro confirmation	Effect in Population	Reference
IL-1ß	Exon 5+3953 T allele	Increased expression	Increased PTB in African American women Not found in Caucasian women	35,19
TNF-a	Promoter -308 A allele -863 A allele (homozygocity)	Increased expression Increased expression	Increased PTB Increased: PTB/ chorioamnionitis/ neonatal morbidity	36,38
IL-6	-174 C (homozygocity) -174G (homozygocity)	Decreased concentration in amniotic fluid	Decreased PTB Increased PTB	32,39
IL-1ra	Intron 2 : IL1 RN*2 (homozygocity)	Increased IL-1ß in amniotic fluid	Increased PTB	41,42
IL-4	+590C (homozygocity) -509 C/C		Increased PTB Increased PTB	43,44
IL-10	-1082A/-819T/-592A -1082G/-819C/-592C (homozygocity)		Increased PTB Increased PPROM	44
TLR4	299asp/gly 299gly/gly 896AinsG	Impaired response to LPS	Increased PTB No correlation to PTB	17,31
TLR2	TLR2-Arg753Gln		No correlation to PTB	32
CARD15	mutation	Impaired response to LPS	Decreased PPROM	17
CD14	159T		No correlation to PTB	32
NOD	NOD2-3020insC		No correlation to PTB	32
MMP-1	-1607insertionG	Increased promoter activity in tissue culture	Increased PPROM (in fetal carriage of insertion)	49
MMP-8	-799C/T, -381A/G and +17C/G	Increased promoter activity in tissue culture	Increased PPROM	47
MMP-9	14 CA repeat allele	Increased promoter activity in tissue culture	Increased PPROM	48
β <sub>2</sub> -adrenergic receptor	Glu 27 allele	Decreased expression in	Increased PTB	53-55
	Arg 16 homozygocity	vitro	Decreased PTB	
Factor VII	-121del/ins		Increased in PTB (infants and mothers)	56
Factor XIII	Val34Leu		Decreased in PTB	56
Factor V Leiden			No correlation to PTB	57
Prothrombin	G20210A		No correlation to PTB	57
MTHFR	C677T		No correlation to PTB in Caucasian women Increased in Mexican women	57-58
VEGF	-634 G/C + 936 C/T		Increased PTB	52
Paraoxonase	PON1 RR PON2 CC		Increased PTB	59
Dihydrofolate reductase	19-base pair deletion allele		Increased PTB	68
Microsomal Epoxide hydrolase	Tyr113/His in exon 3		Increased perinatal mortality	62
GlutathioneS- transferase T1	-1285G		Increased PTB	67

SNPs: single nucleotide polymorphisms; PTB: preterm birth; PPROM: preterm premature rupture of amniotic membranes. For others, see text.

merican women who delivered premature infants carried IL-1beta exon 5+3953 T allele more often than African-American women who delivered at term (35), African – American infants born prematurely were less likely to have IL-1beta exon 5+3953 T allele (7%) than term infants (41%) (15). This result was not found among Caucasian women (19). The differences between races could alternatively be explained by the increased infection rate among African-American women; thus by environmental, rather than genetic factors.

The A allele at -308 of the TNF-alpha promoter region results in increased production of TNF-alpha. Roberts *et al* (36) reported an association between the TNF-alpha promoter region polymorphism at -308 (-308 A allele) and PPROM and spontaneous PTB in African-American women. Moore *et al* (37) reported a similar finding among British women: 48% of women who

delivered prematurely carried TNF-alpha-308 A allele, in contrast to 29% of women who delivered at term. In contrast, Amory *et al* (38) found that mothers homozygous for the TNF-alpha -863 A allele had significantly earlier deliveries (p = .02), more chorioamnionitis (p = .03), and greater neonatal morbidity (p = .03), but neither maternal nor fetal carriage of the TNF-alpha-308 polymorphism was associated with adverse outcome.

Unlike the IL-beta exon 5 + 3953 T allele and TNF-alpha promoter polymorphisms, the homozygosity for IL-6—174 C allele results in decreased cytokine production. Simhan *et al* (39) reported the association of homozygosity for IL-6—174 C allele with a decreased risk of preterm birth in a cohort of primarily Caucasian women. The C/C variant was present in 27% of controls and only 5% of Caucasian women with PTB. In contrast, no African-American women who gave birth preterm were found to

carry this polymorphism. Thus, the C/C variant in the IL-6-174 promoter region may play a 'protective role' in preterm birth. A similar result was reported among German women in whom homozygosity IL-6-174G was reported in 29 % if they delivered at term versus 38% if they delivered preterm (p = 0.018).

The interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) inhibits the biologic effects of IL-1 by blocking its receptors. Reduction of IL-1-induced prostaglandin production by intrauterine tissues may postpone preterm labor associated with infection. (40). Witkin *et al* (41) showed that polymorphism in intron 2 of the fetal IL-1ra (IL-1RN \* 2 carriage) was associated with 50% increase in midtrimester intra-amniotic IL-1beta levels above fetuses who were homozygous for IL1-RN\*1. Bessler at al (42) reported a significantly higher frequency of IL1RN \* 2 homozygosity among infants born prematurely. In addition, IL-1RN\*2 homozygosity was related to PTB and increased vaginal colonization in African-American women (42).

#### 4.1.3. Anti-inflammatory cytokines

Anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-4, IL-10, IL-13) play a critical role in maintenance of pregnancy. Engel *et al* (43) showed that African-American women who were homozygous for IL-4 +590C had a greater risk of spontaneous preterm birth (OR=2.9, 95% CI=1.2-7.4). Haplotypes IL-10 -1082A/-819T/-592A (multivariable odds ratio, 2.1; p = .04), and IL-4 -509C/C (multivariable odds ratio, 3.4; p = .02) were associated independently with preterm birth at <29 weeks of gestation in white Australian women (44). Homozygosity for IL-10 -1082G/-819C/-592C haplotype (multivariable odds ratio, 1.9; p = .02) was more common in women with PPROM (44).

#### 4.2. Matrix metalloproteinases

Intact amniotic fluid membranes serve as a physical and functional boundary for the fetus. Premature, pathological rupture of these structures is a major cause of spontaneous preterm labor and preterm birth. Activation of matrix metalloproteinases (the collagen metabolizing matrix metalloproteinases MMP-1, -3, -8, -9) lead to degradation of connective tissue, cervical changes and rupture of membranes. Bacterial products and/or the proinflammatory cytokines act on cervical smooth muscle cells to provoke the expression of MMPs (45).

Elevated mid-trimester concentrations amniotic fluid matrix metalloproteinase-8 were found to correlate with early spontaneous preterm delivery (<32 weeks) (46). A case-control study of African-American neonates showed significant association between three alleles which display the highest MMP-8 promoter activity in trophoblast cells, with PPROM (47). Ferrend et al (48) studied functional significance of a variable number tandem repeats in the promoter region of MMP-9 gene on promoter activity and their association with PPROM. They found that the 14 CA-repeat allele was a stronger promoter than the 20 CA-repeat allele in amnion epithelial cells assay. A case-control study of African-American neonates revealed that the 14 CA-repeat allele was more common in

newborns delivered to mothers who had PPROM than in those delivered at term.

Fugimoto *et al* (49) studied polymorphism of MMP-1 in amnion epithelial cells. An insertion of a guanine (G) at –1607 position of the promoter region of MMP-1 gene showed increased promoter activity. Fetal carriage of 2G alleles at –1607 of MMP-1 was associated with PPROM (49).

### 4.3. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)

VEGF an angiogenic factor expressed in fetal membranes and deciduas that modulates placental perfusion and amniotic membranes permeability. Daneshmand *et al.* (50) reported that in response to hypoxia and chorioamnionitis expression of VEGF and its receptors (VEGF-R1 and -R2) were reduced in comparison with controls. Since VEGF is essential for fetal and placental angiogenesis (51), its absence may lead to placental dysfunction and PTB.

Parazoglou *et al* (52) linked two common functional VEGF gene polymorphisms (-634G/C and 936C/T) with altered VEGF gene responsiveness, and spontaneous preterm delivery.

# 4.4. Beta2-adrenergic receptor (beta2-AR) polymorphism

Beta2-adrenergic receptors have been identified in the uterine blood vessels and in the placenta (53). Beta agonists have been used to inhibit uterine contractions and shown to prolong pregnancy for at least 48 hours. Two biologically relevant SNPs were identified: at codon 16 and codon 27 of the beta2-AR gene. Homozygosity for allele A at codon 16 (Arg-16) has been associated with a down-regulation of beta2-AR gene expression *in vitro* (54) and thus, was predicted to have a "protective" effect on PTB.

Several investigators (53-55) studied association between polymorphisms at these two loci of beta2-AR gene and pregnancy outcome. Landau *et al* (54) compared the distribution of beta2-AR genotype between 251 Hispanic women who delivered at term and 28 Hispanic women who delivered preterm. Only one woman who delivered preterm was homozygous for Arg16 versus 79 (31%) in the control group (p =.01, odds ratio: 0.08). They did not find any association of preterm labor with genotype at position 27. In contrast, Ozgur *et al* (53) showed a correlation between Gln 27Glu allele and PTB in population of Turkish women (80 preterm and 76 term) with odds ratio for the occurrence of preterm labor 2.14 (95% CI, 1.32-3.46; P=0.002) for the Glu 27 allele.

Doh *et al* (55) studied 159 mother-infant pairs after a preterm or term birth. Homozygosity for allele A at codon 16 (Arg-16) occurred in 20% mothers with a term birth and in none of the mothers who had a spontaneous preterm birth (p=0.002). Conversely, 75% mothers with a spontaneous preterm birth, as compared to 46% mothers with term births, were Arg-16/allele G (Gly-16) heterozygotes (p=0.003) (55).

# 4.5. Polymorphism of thrombotic and anti thrombotic markers

Epidemiologic data indicate association between thrombosis and spontaneous abortions and preterm birth (56). The explanation for this association may be related to the placental vascular disease (hyperfibrinogenemia is associated with arterial and venous thromboembolism) or uterine contractions induced by thrombin (a potent uterotonic agent) (12).

Polymorphisms in several thrombotic and anti thrombotic markers have been associated with obstetrical complications and placental vascular disease. However, conflicting results were reported when polymorphisms in these genes were studied in correlation with PTB. Hartel at al (56) studied the impact of V Leiden and the prothrombin G20210A mutation, and polymorphisms in the factor VII (121del/ins) and the factor XIII (Val34Leu) in preterm very-low-birth-weight (VLBW, n=593) and term-borninfants (n=278) and their mothers (n=785). The maternal factor VII-121del/ins polymorphism (26.2 vs. 17.6 %; p=0.009) and the infant's factor VII-121del/ins polymorphism (29.0 vs. 20.0 %; p=0.009) were more frequent in VLBW and their mothers compared to term infants and their mothers. Furthermore, the frequency of the factor XIII-Val34Leu polymorphism was significantly lower in VLBW than in term infant controls (5.1 vs. 9.6%. p=0.025). In a multivariate regression analysis, previous preterm delivery (OR=3.8, 95% CI: 1.7-8.4), the maternal carrier status of the factor-VII-121del/ins polymorphism (OR=1.7, 95% CI: 1.12-2.5, p=0.007) and the lower frequency of infant's factor-XIII-Val34Leu polymorphism (OR=0.53; 95% CI: 0.29-0.96; p=0.038) were found to be independently associated with preterm delivery.

A study by Resch *et al* (57) showed no correlation between polymorphisms in factor V Leiden, prothrombin G20210A, and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T mutations, and preterm birth in Caucasian women. However, Valdez at al (58) showed significant increase in the frequency of polymorphisms for MTHFR C677T and the angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism (deletion) among Mexican women who had a history of preterm delivery compared with controls.

Human paraoxonase (PON) is an enzyme involved in vasodilatation and thrombosis and thus, potentially in redistribution of blood flow through the placenta. In one study, polymorphisms in two paraoxonase genes, genotypes PON1RR and PON2 CC, were found more commonly among Chinese infants born prematurely (59).

A potential explanation of the diverse findings among the ethnic and racial groups may be related, like in the case of SNPs for other genes, to the sample size, underlying disorders and effects of environmental factors.

### 4.6. Genes involved in xenobiotic metabolism

Genes involved in xenobiotic metabolism regulate response to oxidant challenges. Oxidant-

antioxidant balance may modulate the likelihood of PTB. When components of the antioxidant defense system in placental tissues were studied in women with normal pregnancy and term delivery and women with late spontaneous abortions it was found that glutathione-S-transferase activity was decreased in placentas that resulted in spontaneous abortions (60). Similarly anti-oxidant enzymes: glutathione S-transferase, selenium dependent glutathione peroxidase, catalase activities were depleted in pregnancies complicated by diabetes and preeclampsia (61).

Genetic polymorphism in microsomal epoxide hydrolase (EPHX His113/His113 genotype,) and glutathione S-transferase P1 (GSTP1) was found in women who experienced perinatal mortality caused by placental pathology, congenital disorders and complications of preterm birth (62).

#### 4.7. Uterine distention and PTB

Majority of multiple pregnancies are delivered preterm. Thus, uterine distention may play a role in PTB. Kalish *et al* (63-65) investigated different polymorphic genes in multifetal pregnancies and reported an association of premature rupture of membranes and carriage of TNF-alpha –308 and/or heat shock protein-70 allele 2 by the first-born fetus; maternal and fetal carriage of the IL-4 T allele an increased risk of spontaneous preterm birth; PPROM and a polymorphism at position -670 in the Fas gene.

# 5. INTERACTIONS BETWEEN GENETICS AND ENVIRONMENT

Environmental influences modify genetic predisposition. An example is the association between maternal cigarette smoking and infant's birth weigh. The greatest reduction in birth weight was found among smoking mothers with the CYP1A1 Aa/aa and GSTT1 absent genotype -1285 G. Glutathione S-transferase, (GSTT1) is one of the enzymes responsible for the metabolism of tobacco-related mutagens and carcinogens. Nukui *et al* (67) have shown that women and their babies homozygous in the glutathione S-transferase T1 "null" genotype, are at increased risk of PTB.

Folate is critical for cell division, and a normal fetal development. Dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) is essential enzyme in folate metabolism. In one study (68) women with a deletion allele in DHFR had a significantly greater risk of PTB (OR=3.0; 95% CI: 1.0-8.8) than did those without a deletion allele. If they also had a low folate intake then they had a significantly greater risk of having an infant with a low birth weight (OR=8.3; 95% CI: 1.8-38.6) (68).

Another example of interaction between genetics and environment is the association between TNF-alpha polymorphism and PTB that is modified by the presence of bacterial vaginosis (69). Mothers with a "susceptible" genotype and bacterial vaginosis had increased risk of PTB (OR 6.1, 95% CI 1.9-21.0) (69).

Labor is regulated by multiple overleaping and redundant mechanisms. Thus, it is likely that multiple gene products (and their polymorphisms) may be involved in the control of PTB and that combinations of genes and their products together with obstetric family history and distribution of the alleles in the population, will be required for the diagnosis and treatment of PTB. Several studies support this hypothesis. Engel et al (43) studied polymorphism of six cytokine genes and Annells et al (44) studied 22 SNPs in immune response genes previously correlated with PTB. Both groups found that not one, but several haplotypes increase risk for PTB. Hao et al (70) conducted a large study in which the authors explored 426 SNPs in 300 mothers who had PTB and compared them to 458 mothers who delivered at term. Twenty-five candidate genes were included in the final haplotype analysis.

# 6. FUTURE DIRECTIONS: GENOMICS AND PROTEOMICS

Genomics technologies like transcriptional profiling and proteomics allow researchers to simultaneously study expression of thousands of genes even without knowledge of their function and determine their potential relationship to PTB. Several groups have recently used a genomic approach to evaluate changes in myometrial gene expression during labor in an attempt to identify potential markers of labor. Aguan *et al* (71) performed microarrays to compare expression of 588 genes in the myometrium from three laboring and three non-laboring women and found 21 genes that were two fold upor down-regulated during labor. Using differential hybridization, Chan *et al* (72) found thirty differentially expressed genes in labor.

Proteomics analysis using mass spectrometry (MS) is able to identify virtually all peptides and proteins present in biological specimens and provide data about timing, amounts and posttranslational modifications of genes identified by analysis of genotype and mRNAs (by microarrays). This technique may be used to identify prognostic markers of PTB, to block them when present, or to follow the progression of PTB in a single women over time. The limitation of methods used for proteomic analyses (surfaced-enhanced laser desorption-ionizationtime of flight SELDI-mass spectroscopy MS) of serum is that although it can separate thousands of proteins it cannot identify them without a purification (73). Arrays of specific antibodies may become available in future and facilitate identification of proteins. At present, identification of all peptides and proteins in biological specimens is only theoretical. In practice, certain techniques identify preferentially certain proteins and peptides (74). However, these techniques appear more sensitive that standard immunologic tests. Buhimschi et al (75) analyzed four biomarkers (human neutrophil peptide 1, defensins, calgranulin C [Cal-C], and Cal-A) using proteomic technology (SELDI-TOF MS) and showed that it is more sensitive than enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for detection of these biomarkers in intra-amniotic infection. Gravett et al (76), also, used proteomic profiling to diagnose intra-amniotic infection. Two specific peptides,

calgranulin B and a unique fragment of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1, were characterized and subsequently used to detect sub-clinical intra-amniotic infection. This information would not be available if the study of genome was performed since a fragment of insulin-like growth factor 1 in women with sub clinical infection may reflect proteolytic activity of an enzyme that is unique to labor.

Pharmacogenomics determines drug responses (potential for therapeutic effect and toxicity) based, in part, on the genetics of the subject. In contrast to "traditional" drugs in which the same medication is used to treat all patients, in this case therapy will be tailored towards patient's specific genomic profile. This approach may allow for the identification a group of patients that would respond to therapy, optimize therapeutic window and minimize toxicity. One could speculate that blocking receptors for inflammatory cytokines, or providing soluble receptors to compete for them, could prevent a progression of preterm labor to delivery.

These rapidly evolving techniques are able to identify and measure multiple markers in various biological specimens. They may be able to identify specific biomarkers of pretem labor/PTB and propose novel therapeutic target molecules that would block them. It may become possible to develop a patient-specific treatment (based on her pharmacogenetics). However, the amount of data generated and difficulty in interpreting their relevance represents an obstacle that needs to be overcome before application of these technologies become applicable to patient care.

In conclusion, available evidence that genetic factors (especially factors modulating inflammatory response in fetus and mother) play an important role in PTB and delivery was reviewed. It was emphasized that environmental factors act in concert with genetic predispositions modifying the risk of an individual during a particular pregnancy. New technologies (genomics and proteomics) will likely be able to identify women that are at increased risk for PTB and provide targeted treatments based on individual risk. However, these are evolving fields, and while identification of genetic predisposition is important and it may evaluate the risk it is a long way before these new techniques could be used for diagnosis or treatment.

### 7. REFERENCES

- 1. Green NS, Damus K, Simpson JL, Iams J, Reece EA, Hobel CJ, Merkatz IR, Greene MF, Schwarz RH; March Of Dimes Scientific Advisory Committee On Prematurity. Research agenda for preterm birth: recommendations from the March of Dimes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.*;193(3 Pt 1):626-35 (2005)
- 2. Mattison DR, Damus K, Fiore E, Petrini J, Alter C. Preterm delivery: a public health perspective. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.*;15 Suppl 2:7-16 (2001)
- 3. Steer P. Epidemiology of preterm birth. *BJOG*;112:1-3 (2005)

- 4. Rayco-Solon P, Fulford AJ, Prentice AM, Differential effects of seasonality on preterm birth and intrauterine growth restriction in rural Africans. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 81 (1):134-9 (2005)
- 5. Abrams ET, Milner DA Jr, Kwiek J, Mwapasa V, Kamwendo DD, Zeng D, Tadesse E, Lema VM, Molyneux ME, Rogerson SJ, Meshnick SR. Risk factors and mechanisms of preterm delivery in Malawi. *Am J Reprod Immunol.*;52(2):174-83 (2004)
- 6. Osman NB, Challis K, Cotiro M, Nordahl G, Bergstrom S. Perinatal outcome in an obstetric cohort of Mozambican women. *J Trop Pediatr*:;47(1):30-8 (2001)
- 7. Lain KY, Krohn MA, Roberts JM, Second pregnancy outcomes following preeclampsia in a first pregnancy. Hypertens Pregnancy.:24(2):159-69 (2005)
- 8. Gardosi JO, Prematurity and fetal growth restriction, *Early Hum Dev*.;81(1):43-9 (2005)
- 9. Davies MJ, Fetal programming: the perspective of single and twin pregnancies. Reprod Fertil Dev;17(3):379-86 (2005)
- 10. Bergsjo P, Villar J, Scientific basis for the content of routine antenatal care. II. Power to eliminate or alleviate adverse newborn outcomes; some special conditions and examinations. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*.;76(1):15-25 (1997)
- 11. Esplin MS, Varner MW. Genetic factors in preterm birth-the future. *BJOG* ;112:97-102 (2005)
- 12. Norwitz ER, Robinson JN, Challis JR, The control of labor, *New Eng J Med*, , 341, 660-666 (1999)
- 13. Hagberg H, Mallard C, Jacobsson B. Role of cytokines in preterm labour and brain injury. *BJOG*;112:16-8 (2005)
- 14. Romero R, Emamian M, Wan M, Quintero R, Hobbins JC, Mitchell MD, Prostaglandin concentrations in amniotic fluid of women with intraamniotic infection and preterm labor. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 157:1461-7 (1987)
- 15. Challis JRG, Gibb W. Control of parturition. *Prenat Neonat Med*, 1:283-91(1996)
- 16. Vadillo-Ortega F, Estrada-Gutierrez G, Role of matrix metalloproteinases in preterm labour. *BJOG*:, 112, Supplement 1, pp. 19–22 (2005)
- 17. Srinivas SK, Macones GA Preterm premature rupture of the fetal membranes: current concepts. *Minerva Ginecol.*;57(4):389-96 (2005)
- 18. Elovitz M, Saunders T, Phillippe M. Thrombin, a nonclassic utero-tonic aginist that produces phasic myometrial contractions. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 180:S15 abstract (1999)
- 19. Dizon-Townson DS. Preterm labour and delivery: a genetic predisposition. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*;15:57-62 (2001)
- 20. Kliegman RM, Rottman CJ, Behrman RE. Strategies for prevention of low birth weight. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;162:1073-83 (1990)
- 21. Winkvist A, Mogren I, Hogberg U. Familial patterns in birth characteristics: impact on idivivual and population risks. *Int J Epidemiol*;27:248-54 (1998)
- 22. Surkan PJ, Stephansson O, Dickman PW, Cnattingius S. Previous preterm and small-for-gestational-age births and the subsequent risk of stillbirth. *N Engl J Med*;350:777-85 (2004)
- 23. Treloar SA, Macones GA, Mitchell LE, Martin NG. Genetic influences on premature parturition in an Australian twin sample. *Twin Res.*;3(2):80-2 (2000)

- 24. Chen CP, Wang KG, Yang YC, See LC. Risk factors for preterm birth in an upper middle class Chinese population. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*;70:53-9 (1996)
- 25. Grjibovski AM, Bygren LO, Yngve A, Sjostrom M. Large social disparities in spontaneous preterm birth rates in transitional Russia. *Public Health*;119:77-86 (2005)
- 26. Blackmore CA, Savitz DA, Edwards LJ, Harlow SD, Bowes WA Jr Racial differences in the patterns of preterm delivery in central North Carolina, USA. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. ;9(3):281-95 (1995)
- 27. Zhang J, Savitz DA. Preterm birth subtypes among blacks and whites. *Epidemiology*;3:433-38 (1992)
- 28 Chien EK, Tokuyama Y, Rouard M, Phillippe M, Bell GI. Identification of gstationally regulated genes in rat myometrium by use of messenger ribonucleic acid differential display. *Am. J Obstet Gynecol*; 177,645-652 (1997)
- 29. Tashima LS, Millar LK, Bryant-Greenwood GD. Genes upregulated in human fetal membranes by infection or labor. *Obstet Gynecol*, 94:441-449 (1999)
- 30. Varner MW, Esplin MS. Current understanding of genetic factors in preterm birth. *BJOG*;112:28-31 (2005)
- 31. Lorenz E, Hallman M, Marttila R, Haataja R, Schwartz DA. Association between the Asp299Gly polymorphisms in the Toll-like receptor 4 and premature births in the Finnish population. *Pediatr Res* 2002;52:373-6.
- 32 Hartel Ch, Finas D, Ahrens P, Polymorphisms of genes involved in innate immunity: association with preterm delivery *Mol Hum Reprod*;10:911-5 (2004)
- 33. Nguyen DP, Genc M, Vardhana S, Babula O, Onderdonk A, Witkin SS. Ethnic differences of polymorphisms in cytokine and innate immune system genes in pregnant women. *Obstet Gynecol*. Aug;104(2):293-300 (2004)
- 34. Goffinet F. Primary predictors of preterm labor. *BJOG*;112: 38-47 (2005)
- 35. Genc MR, Gerber S, Nesin M, Witkin SS. Polymorphism in the interleukin-1 gene complex and spontaneous preterm delivery. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;187:157-63 (2002)
- 36. Roberts AK, Monzon-Barbonaba F, Van Deerlin PG, *et al.* Association of polymorphism with the promoter of the tumor necrosis factor 10Lgene with increased risk of preterm premature rupture of the fetal membranes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 180:1297-1302 (1999)
- 37. Moore S, Ide M, Randhawa M, Walker JJ, Reid JG, Simpson NA. An investigation into the association among preterm birth, cytokine gene polymorphisms and periodontal disease. *BJOG*;111:125-32 (2004)
- 38. Amory JH, Adams KM, Lin MT, Hansen JA, Eschenbach DA, Hitti J. Adverse outcomes after preterm labor are associated with tumor necrosis factor-alpha polymorphism -863, but not -308, in mother-infant pairs. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;191:1362-7 (2004)
- 39. Simhan HN, Krohn MA, Roberts JM, Zeevi A, Caritis SN. Interleukin-6 promoter -174 polymorphism and spontaneous preterm birth. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;189:915-8 (2003)
- 40. Romero R, Sepulveda W, Mazor M, Brandt F, Cotton DB, Dinarello CA, Mitchell MD. The natural interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in term and preterm parturition. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. Oct;167(4 Pt 1):863-72 (1992)

- 41. Witkin SS, Vardhana S, Yih M, Doh K, Bongiovanni AM, Gerber S. Polymorphism in intron 2 of the fetal interleukin-1 receptor antagonist genotype influences midtrimester amniotic fluid concentrations of interleukin-1beta and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and pregnancy outcome. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;189:1413-7 (2003)
- 42. Bessler H, Osovsky M, Sirota L. Association between IL-1ra gene polymorphism and preterm birth. *Biol Neonate*;85:179-83 (2004)
- 43. Engel SA, Olshan AF, Savitz DA, Thorp J, Erichsen HC, Chanock SJ. Risk for small-for gestational age is associated with common anti-inflammatory cytokine polymorphisms. *Epidemiology*;16:478-86 (2005)
- 44. Annells MF, Hart PH, Mullighan CG, Heatley SL, Robinson JS, Bardy P, McDonald HM. Interleukins-1, -4, -6, -10, tumor necrosis factor, transforming growth factorbeta, FAS, and mannose-binding protein C gene polymorphisms in Australian women: Risk of preterm birth. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;191(6):2056-67 (2004)
- 45. Vadillo-Ortega F, Estarda-Guierrez G. Role of metalloproteinases in preterm birth. *BJOG*;112:19-22 (2005)
- 46. Watari M, Watari H, DiSanto ME, Chacko S, Guo-Ping Shi, Strauss, III JF. Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines Induce Expression of Matrix-Metabolizing Enzymes in Human Cervical Smooth Muscle Cells. *Am J of Pathol*;154:1755-1762 (1999)
- 47. Wang H, Parry S, Macones G, Sammel MD, Ferrand PE, Kuivaniemi H, Tromp G, Halder I, Shriver MD, Romero R, Strauss JF 3rd. Functionally significant SNP MMP8 promoter haplotypes and preterm premature rupture of membranes (PPROM) *Hum Mol Genet.* 1;13(21):2659-69 (2004)
- 48. Ferrand PE, Parry S, Sammel M, Macones GA, Kuivaniemi H, Romero R, Strauss JF 3rd. A polymorphism in the matrix metalloproteinase-9 promoter is associated with increased risk of preterm premature rupture of membranes in African Americans. *Mol Hum Reprod.*;8(5):494-501 (2002) 49. Fujimoto T, Parry S, Urbanek M, Sammel M, Macones G, Kuivaniemi H, Romero R, Strauss JF 3rd, A single nucleotide polymorphism in the matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MMP-1) promoter influences amnion cell MMP-1 expression and risk for preterm premature rupture of the fetal membranes. *J Biol Chem.* 22;277(8):6296-302 (2002)
- 50. Daneshmand SS, Chmait RH, Moore TR, Bogic L. Preterm premature rupture of membranes: vascular endothelial growth factor and its association with histologic chorioamnionitis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. Nov;187(5):1131-6 (2002)
- 51. Kramer BW, Kaemmerer U, Kapp M, Herbst D, Marx A, Berg D, Groneck PA, Speer CP Decreased expression of angiogenic factors in placentas with chorioamnionitis after preterm birth. *Pediatr Res*. 2005;58(3):607-12 (2005)
- 52. Papazoglou D, Galazios G, Koukourakis MI, Kontomanolis EN, Maltezos E. Association of -634G/C and 936C/T polymorphisms of the vascular endothelial growth factor with spontaneous preterm delivery. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*;83(5):461-5 (2004)
- 53. Ozkur M, Dogulu F, Ozkur A, Gokmen B, Inaloz SS, Aynaciaoglu A. Association of the Gln27Glu polymorphism of the beta-2-adrenergic receptor with preterm labor. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*;77:209-15 (2002)

- 54. Landau R, Xie HG, Dishy V, et al. Beta2-Adrenergic receptor genotype and preterm delivery. Am J Obstet Gynecol;187:1294-8 (2002)
- 55. Doh K, Sziller I, Vardhana S, Kovacs E, Papp Z, Witkin SS. Beta2-adrenergic receptor gene polymorphisms and pregnancy outcome. *J Perinat Med.*;32(5):413-7 (2004) 56. Hartel Ch, Finas D, Ahrens P, Kattner E, Schaible T, Muller D, Segerer H, Albrecht K, Moller J, Diedrich K, Gopel W Polymorphisms of genes involved in innate immunity: association with preterm delivery. *Mol Hum Reprod.*;10(12):911-5 (2004)
- 57. Resch B, Gallistl S, Kutschera J, Mannhalter C, Muntean W, Mueller WD. Thrombophilic polymorphisms—factor V Leiden, prothrombin G20210A, and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T mutations--and preterm birth. *Wien Klin Wochenschr*;116:622-6 (2004)
- 58. Valdez LL, Quintero A, Garcia E, Olivares N, Celis A, Rivas F Jr. Thrombophilic polymorphisms in preterm delivery. *Blood Cells Mol Dis*;33:51-6 (2004)
- 59. Chen D, Hu Y, Chen C, Yang F, Fang Z, Wang L, Li J. Polymorphisms of the paraoxonase gene and risk of preterm delivery. *Epidemiology*;15:466-70 (2004)
- 60. Prokopenko VM, Partsalis GK, Pavlova NG, Burmistrov SO, Arutyunyan AV. Glutathione-dependent system of antioxidant defense in the placenta in preterm delivery. *Bull Exp Biol Med.*;133(5):442-3 (2002)
- 61. Orhan H, Onderoglu L, Yucel A, Sahin G Circulating biomarkers of oxidative stress in complicated pregnancies. *Arch Gynecol Obstet.* ;267(4):189-95 (2003)
- 62. Raijmakers MT, de Galan-Roosen TE, Schilders GW, Merkus JM, Steegers EA, Peters WH. The Tyr113His polymorphism in exon 3 of the microsomal epoxide hydrolase gene is a risk factor for perinatal mortality. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*;83:1056-60 (2004)
- 63. Kalish RB, Vardhana S, Gupta M, Perni SC, Chasen ST, Witkin SS. Polymorphisms in the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene at position -308 and the inducible 70 kd heat shock protein gene at position +1267 in multifetal pregnancies and preterm premature rupture of fetal membranes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;191:1368-74 (2004)
- 64. Kalish RB, Vardhana S, Gupta M, Perni SC, Witkin SS. Interleukin-4 and -10 gene polymorphisms and spontaneous preterm birth in multifetal gestations. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;190:702-6 (2004)
- 65. Kalish RB, Nguyen DP, Vardhana S, Gupta M, Perni SC, Witkin SS. A single nucleotide A>G polymorphism at position -670 in the Fas gene promoter: relationship to preterm premature rupture of fetal membranes in multifetal pregnancies. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;192:208-12 (2005)
- 66 .Wang X, Zuckerman B, Pearson C, *et al.* Maternal cigarette smoking, metabolic gene polymorphism, and infant birth weight. *JAMA*;287:241-2 (2002)
- 67. Nukui T, Day RD, Sims CS, Ness RB, Romkes M. Maternal/newborn GSTT1 null genotype contributes to risk of preterm, low birthweight infants. *Pharmacogenetics*;14:569-576 (2004)
- 68. Johnson WG, Scholl TO, Spychala JR, Buyske S, Stenroos ES, Chen X. Common dihydrofolate reductase 19-base pair deletion allele: a novel risk factor for preterm delivery *Am J Clin Nutr*;81:664-8 (2005)
- 69. Macones GA, Parry S, Elkousy M, Clothier B, Ural SH, Strauss JF 3rdA polymorphism in the promoter region of

- TNF and bacterial vaginosis: preliminary evidence of geneenvironment interaction in the etiology of spontaneous preterm birth. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. Jun;190(6):1504-8 (2004)
- 70. Hao K, Wang X, Niu T, *et al.* A candidate gene association study on preterm delivery: application of high-throughput genotyping technology and advanced statistical methods. *Hum Mol Genet*;13:683-91 (2004)
- 71. Aguan K, Carvajal JA, Thompson LP, Weiner CP. Application of a functional genomics approach to identify differentially expressed genes in human myometrium during pregnancy and labour. *Mol Hum Reprod*;6: 1141-5 (2000)
- 72. Chan EC, Fraser S, Yin S, *et al.* Human myometrial genes are differentially expressed in labour: a suppression subtractive hybridization study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*;87: 2435-41 (2002)
- 73. Buhimschi I, Christner R, Buhimschi C, Chaiworapongsa T, Romero R. Proteomic analysis of preterm parturition: a novel method of identifying the patient at risk of impending preterm delivery. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;187: S55 (2002)
- 74. Thulin CD, Esplin MS, Graves SW, *et al.* Proteomics and mechanistic candidates of term and preterm labor. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*;189: S205 (2004)
- 75. Buhimschi IA, Buhimschi CS, Weiner CP, Kimura T, Hamar BD, Sfakianaki AK, Norwitz ER, Funai EF, Ratner E. Proteomic but not enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay technology detects amniotic fluid monomeric calgranulins from their complexed calprotectin form. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* Jul;12(7):837-44 (2005)
- 76. Gravett MG, Novy MJ, Rosenfeld RG, *et al.* Diagnosis of intra-amniotic infection by proteomic profiling and identification of novel biomarkers. *JAMA*;292: 462-9 (2004)
- **Key Words:** Genetic Predisposition, Preterm Birth, Genetic Polymorphism, Single Nucleotide Polymorphism, Polymorphism Of Innate Immunity Genes, Genomics, Proteonomics, Review

**Send correspondence to:** Mirjana Nesin, MD, Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Boston Medical Center, Boston University School of Medicine, 91 East Concord St MAT 6, Boston, MA, Tel: 617-414-5461, Fax: 617-414-7297, Mirjana.Nesin@bmc.org

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol12.htm